### THIS CIRCULAR IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION

If you are in doubt as to any aspect of this circular or as to the action to be taken, you should consult your stockbroker, other registered dealer in securities, bank manager, solicitor, professional accountant or other professional adviser.

If you have sold or transferred all your shares in Gemini Investments (Holdings) Limited, you should at once hand this circular together with the accompanying form of proxy to the purchaser or transferee or to the bank, stockbroker or other agent through whom the sale or transfer was effected for transmission to the purchaser or transferee.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for the contents of this circular, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss however arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this circular.



## Gemini Investments (Holdings) Limited 盛洋投資(控股)有限公司

(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability) (Stock Code: 174)

### (1) PROPOSALS FOR GENERAL MANDATES TO ISSUE ORDINARY SHARES AND TO BUY BACK ORDINARY SHARES; (2) RE-ELECTION OF RETIRING DIRECTORS; (3) CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS; AND (4) NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Capitalised terms used in this cover page shall have the same meanings as those defined in the section headed "Definitions" in this circular.

A notice convening the annual general meeting of Gemini Investments (Holdings) Limited to be held at its principal place of business in Hong Kong at Room 3902, 39/F, Tower One, Lippo Centre, No.89 Queensway, Hong Kong and online through visiting the Tricor e-Meeting system — https://spot-emeeting.tricor.hk/#/375 on Friday, 6 May 2022 at 10:00 a.m. is set out on pages 18 to 24 of this circular. A form of proxy for use at the AGM is also enclosed with this circular.

As set out in the section headed "Special Arrangements for the Annual General Meeting" of this circular, the AGM will be a hybrid meeting. The Company strongly encourages Shareholders to exercise their rights to attend and vote at the AGM by electronic facilities. In light of the current COVID-19 pandemic situation and the current regulatory requirements and guidelines under the laws of Hong Kong, Shareholders will unlike be able to gain access to the meeting venue of the AGM in person. All Shareholders (other than those who are required to attend the AGM physically to form a quorate meeting) who wish to appoint a proxy to attend and vote physically at the AGM on their behalf shall appoint the Chairman of the AGM as their proxy by completing, signing and returning the proxy form in accordance with the instructions printed thereon to the Company's share registrar, Tricor Standard Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Hong Kong or via the designated URL (https:// spot-emeeting.tricor.hk/#/375) by using the username and password provided on the notification letter sent by the Company together with this circular as soon as possible but in any event not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the holding of the AGM or any adjournment thereof. Completion and return of the form of proxy will not preclude you from attending and voting online at the AGM (or any adjournment thereof) by means of electronic facilities if you so wish and, in such event, the form of proxy shall be deemed to be revoked.

To the extent that there are any inconsistencies between the English version and the Chinese version of this circular, the English version shall prevail.

## CONTENTS

### Page

Special Arrangements for the Annual General Meeting	1
Definitions	4
Letter from the Board	6
Introduction	6
General Mandate to Issue Ordinary Shares	7
General Mandate to Buy Back Ordinary Shares	7
Re-election of Retiring Directors	8
Annual General Meeting	9
Voting by Poll	9
Closure of Register of Members	10
Recommendation	10
Appendix I — Explanatory Statement for the Buy-back Mandate	11
Appendix II — Biographical Details of Directors Proposed for Re-election	15
Notice of Annual General Meeting	18

### SPECIAL ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Company will adopt the following special arrangements at the AGM for the purpose of public health and safety of AGM attendees during the COVID-19 pandemic:

- (a) The AGM will be a hybrid meeting. No Shareholder, proxy or corporate representative (other than those who are required to attend the AGM physically to form a quorate meeting) should attend the AGM in person in light of the continuing risks posed by the COVID-19 pandemic. Any other person who attempts to do so will unlikely be able to gain access to the meeting venue of the AGM in person in light of the current COVID-19 pandemic situation and the current regulatory requirements and guidelines under the laws of Hong Kong.
- (b) No corporate gifts will be distributed and no refreshments will be served at the AGM.
- (c) All resolutions at the AGM will be decided on a poll. Shareholders will still be able to vote by doing so in advance of the AGM by proxy. If a Shareholder (other than those who are required to attend the AGM physically to form a quorate meeting as mentioned in paragraph (a) above) wishes to vote on any resolution at the physical meeting venue of the AGM, he/she/it shall appoint the Chairman of the AGM as his/ her/its proxy to exercise his/her/its right to vote at the AGM in accordance with his/ her/its instructions.
- (d) Shareholders can attend, participate and vote at the AGM through online access by visiting the Tricor e-Meeting system — https://spot-emeeting.tricor.hk/#/375 (the "e-Meeting System"), and the Company strongly encourages Shareholders to do so. Shareholders participating in the AGM using the e-Meeting System will be able to cast their vote and submit questions through the e-Meeting System. The e-Meeting System permits a "split vote" on a resolution. In the case of a proxy, he/she can vote such number of shares in respect of which he/she has been appointed as a proxy. Votes cast through the e-Meeting System are irrevocable once the voting session at the AGM ends

### SPECIAL ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

- (e) The e-Meeting System will be open for registered Shareholders and their proxy (see below for login details and arrangements) to log in approximately 30 minutes prior to the commencement of the AGM and can be accessed from any location with internet connection by a smart phone, tablet device or computer. Shareholders and their proxy should allow ample time to check into the e-Meeting System to complete the related procedures. Please refer to the Online User Guide for the AGM at https://spot-emeeting.tricor.hk/#/375 for assistance.
- (f) Login details for registered Shareholders Each registered Shareholder's personalized username and password for assessing the e-Meeting System are included in the Company's notification letter to registered Shareholders sent together with this circular. In case of appointment of proxy for participation at the AGM via the e-Meeting System, registered Shareholders are requested to provide a valid email address of his or her proxy (except for appointment of "The Chairman of the Meeting" as proxy) in order for the proxy to receive the username and password from the Company's share registrar, Tricor Standard Limited, to participate and vote online at the AGM via the e-Meeting System.
- (g) Shareholders and their proxy should note that only one device is allowed in respect of each set of login details. Please keep the login details in safe custody for use at the AGM and do not disclose them to anyone else. Neither the Company nor its agents assume any obligation or liability whatsoever in connection with the transmission of the login details or any use of the login details for voting or otherwise.
- (h) Login details for non-registered shareholders Non-registered shareholders who wish to attend and participate in the AGM through the e-Meeting System should (1) contact and instruct their banks, brokers, custodians, nominees or HKSCC Nominees Limited (together the "Intermediary") (through which the shares of the Company are held on their behalves) to appoint themselves as proxies to attend the AGM; and (2) provide their e-mail addresses to their Intermediary before the time limit required by the relevant Intermediary. Relevant information including login details to access the e-Meeting System will then be sent by the Company's share registrar, Tricor Standard Limited, to the e-mail addresses provided by the non-registered shareholders.
- (i) Shareholders are encouraged to submit their completed proxy forms well in advance of the AGM. Return of a completed proxy form will not preclude Shareholders from attending and voting online by means of the e-Meeting System at the AGM or any adjournment thereof should they subsequently so wish.

### SPECIAL ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Subject to the continuing development of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company may be required to adopt further changes to the AGM arrangements at short notice. Shareholders are advised to check the websites of the Company (www.geminiinvestments.com.hk) and the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) for any further announcement(s) and information relating to the AGM.

If Shareholders have any questions relating to the AGM, please contact Tricor Standard Limited, the Hong Kong branch share registrar of the Company, as follows:

Tricor Standard Limited Level 54, Hopewell Centre 183 Queen's Road East Wanchai, Hong Kong Telephone: +852 2980 1333 Facsimile: +852 2810 8185

## DEFINITIONS

In this circular, the following expressions have the following meanings unless the context requires otherwise:

"AGM"	the annual general meeting of the Company to be held at the Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong at Room 3902, 39/F, Tower One, Lippo Centre, No.89 Queensway, Hong Kong and online through visiting the Tricor e-Meeting system — https://spot-emeeting.tricor.hk/#/375 on Friday, 6 May 2022 at 10:00 a.m. or any adjournment thereof
"Articles"	the Articles of Association of the Company
"Board"	the board of Directors
"Buy-back Mandate"	the proposed general and unconditional mandate to be granted to the Directors to exercise all the powers of the Company to buy back Ordinary Shares up to (i) 10% of the aggregate number of issued Ordinary Shares as at the date of passing of the relevant resolution approving the said mandate or (ii) where there occurs any share sub-division or consolidation of the issued Ordinary Shares during the effective period of such mandate, 10% of the adjusted number of total issued Ordinary Shares referred to in (i) above resulting from any such share subdivision or consolidation effected from time to time during the effective period of such mandate
"Companies Ordinance"	the Companies Ordinance, Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong
"Company"	Gemini Investments (Holdings) Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability, the issued Ordinary Shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 174)
"Director(s)"	the director(s) of the Company
"Group"	the Company and its subsidiaries
"Hong Kong"	the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China
"HK\$"	Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

## DEFINITIONS

"Issue Mandate"	the proposed general and unconditional mandate to be granted to the Directors to allot, issue and otherwise deal with new Ordinary Shares up to a maximum of (i) 20% of the aggregate number of issued Ordinary Shares as at the date of passing of the relevant resolution approving the said mandate or (ii) where there occurs any share sub-division or consolidation of the issued Ordinary Shares during the effective period of such mandate, 20% of the adjusted number of total issued Ordinary Shares referred to in (i) above resulting from any such share subdivision or consolidation effected from time to time during the effective period of such mandate
"Latest Practicable Date"	24 March 2022, being the latest practicable date prior to the printing of this circular for ascertaining certain information contained herein
"Listing Rules"	the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
"Ordinary Share(s)"	the ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company
"SFO"	the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong
"Shareholder(s)"	the registered holder(s) of the Ordinary Share(s)
"Sino-Ocean"	Sino-Ocean Group Holding Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability and the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3377)
"Sino-Ocean Group"	Sino-Ocean and its subsidiaries
"Stock Exchange"	The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
"Takeovers Codes"	the Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs issued by the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong
···0/0"	per cent.



## Gemini Investments (Holdings) Limited 盛洋投資(控股)有限公司

(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability) (Stock Code: 174)

(Stock Code: 174)

Executive Directors: Mr. SUM Pui Ying (Chairman) Mr. LAI Kwok Hung, Alex (Chief Executive Officer) Ms. LAM Yee Lan Registered office: Room 3902, 39th Floor Tower One, Lippo Centre No. 89 Queensway Hong Kong

Non-executive Directors: Mr. TANG Runjiang Mr. ZHOU Yue

Independent non-executive Directors: Mr. LO Woon Bor, Henry Ms. CHEN Yingshun Mr. LEE Sai Kai, David

1 April 2022

To the Shareholders

Dear Sir/Madam,

### (1) PROPOSALS FOR GENERAL MANDATES TO ISSUE ORDINARY SHARES AND TO BUY BACK ORDINARY SHARES; (2) RE-ELECTION OF RETIRING DIRECTORS; (3) CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS; AND (4) NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

#### INTRODUCTION

On 7 May 2021, ordinary resolutions were passed to grant to the Directors a general mandate to issue new Ordinary Shares and a buy-back mandate to buy back Ordinary Shares respectively and to extend the limit of such general mandate by adding to it the number of Ordinary Shares which might have been bought back under such buyback mandate. These general

mandate to issue new Ordinary Shares and buy-back mandate will lapse at the conclusion of the AGM. It is therefore proposed to renew such general mandate (and the extension thereof) and the buy-back mandate at the AGM.

The purpose of this circular is to provide you with information regarding the resolutions to be proposed at the AGM. These include (i) ordinary resolutions relating to the granting to the Directors of the Issue Mandate (and the extension thereof) and the Buy-back Mandate; and (ii) ordinary resolutions relating to the re-election of the retiring Directors.

#### GENERAL MANDATE TO ISSUE ORDINARY SHARES

At the AGM, an ordinary resolution will be proposed that the Directors be granted the Issue Mandate to allot, issue, and otherwise deal with new Ordinary Shares up to a maximum of 20% of the aggregate number of issued Ordinary Shares as at the date of passing of the relevant resolution. As at the Latest Practicable Date, the total number of Ordinary Shares in issue was 635,570,000. Subject to the passing of the relevant resolution, the maximum number of new Ordinary Shares which may be issued under the Issue Mandate will be 127,114,000 Ordinary Shares (assuming that there will be no change in the number of Ordinary Shares in issue as at the Latest Practicable Date up to the date of the AGM and that there is no subdivision or consolidation of the Ordinary Shares which may be undertaken during the effective period of the Issue Mandate).

In addition, an ordinary resolution will be proposed at the AGM to extend the limit of the Issue Mandate by adding to it the number of Ordinary Shares bought back under the Buy-back Mandate.

#### GENERAL MANDATE TO BUY BACK ORDINARY SHARES

An ordinary resolution will be proposed at the AGM to grant the Buy-back Mandate to the Directors.

The Buy-back Mandate and the Issue Mandate would continue in force until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company unless it is renewed at such meeting; or the expiration of the period within which the next annual general meeting of the Company is required to be held by the Articles or any applicable laws of Hong Kong; or until revoked or varied by an ordinary resolution of the Shareholders in a general meeting held prior to the next annual general meeting of the Company, whichever is the earliest.

An explanatory statement, as required by the Listing Rules to be sent to the Shareholders in connection with the Buy-back Mandate and also constituting the memorandum required under section 239(2) of the Companies Ordinance, is set out in Appendix I to this circular. The explanatory statement contains the information reasonably necessary to enable the Shareholders to make an informed decision on whether to vote for or against the resolution approving the Buy-back Mandate at the AGM.

#### **RE-ELECTION OF RETIRING DIRECTORS**

In accordance with Article 116 of the Articles, at each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation such that every Director, including those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. The Directors to retire in every year shall be those who have been longest in office since their last election but as between persons who became Directors on the same day those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree between themselves) be determined by lot. The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election. Pursuant to the above Article 116, Mr. SUM Pui Ying (as executive Director), Mr. TANG Runjiang (as non-executive Director) and Mr. LO Woon Bor, Henry (as independent non-executive Director), being three of the Directors who have been longest in office since their last election, will retire from office on the Board by rotation at the AGM, and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

In March 2022, the nomination committee of the Company (the "Nomination Committee"), after having reviewed the profile and performance of the retiring Directors and considered their suitability in light of the structure, size and composition of the Board, nominated Mr. SUM Pui Ying, Mr. TANG Runjiang and Mr. LO Woon Bor, Henry to the Board for it to recommend to Shareholders for re-election as Directors at the AGM. The Board accepted the nomination by the Nomination Committee and recommended Mr. SUM Pui Ying, Mr. TANG Runjiang and Mr. LO Woon Bor, Henry to stand for re-election by the Shareholders at the AGM.

The nominations were made in accordance with the nomination policy of the Company and took into account the approved selection criteria for Director candidates (including without limitation, character and integrity, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience, and potential time commitment for the board and/or committee responsibilities), with due regard for the benefits of diversity as set out under the board diversity policy of the Company. The Nomination Committee also took into account the respective contributions of Mr. SUM Pui Ying, Mr. TANG Runjiang and Mr. LO Woon Bor, Henry to the Board and their commitment to their roles.

Mr. LO Woon Bor, Henry has served as an independent non-executive Director for more than 9 years. In recommending Mr. LO to stand for re-election as an independent non-executive Director, the Nomination Committee took into consideration Mr. LO's in-depth-knowledge and experience in the legal field as set out in Appendix II to this circular. His presence on the Board will bring wider spectrum of knowledge and experience and boarder views to the Board conducive to its decision-making process and contributing to a sustainable and balanced development of the Group.

The Nomination Committee also applied rigorous review to assess the continuing independence of Mr. LO Woon Bor, Henry, with attention to ensuring that he remains independent in character and judgement, and continues to present an objective view and bring fresh perspectives and independent judgment to the Board despite the length of his tenure. The Nomination Committee considered that Mr. LO demonstrates his willingness to exercise independent judgment, and continues to present an objective and constructive challenge to the assumptions and viewpoints presented by the management and the Board over issues of strategy, performance, accountability, key appointments and standards of conduct. He has brought his valuable experience and fresh perspectives to the Board and expressed objective views and given independence guidance to the Company over the years. There is no evidence that his length of tenure is having an adverse impact on his independence. His continued tenure also brings considerable stability to the Board. Mr. LO has provided an annual written confirmation of his independence to the Company. The Nomination Committee was satisfied with the independence of Mr. LO with reference to the criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

In light of the above, the Nomination Committee considered, and the Board endorsed the views of the Nomination Committee, that Mr. LO Woon Bor, Henry remains independent and should stand for re-election as independent non-executive Director at the AGM, notwithstanding the length of his tenure for over 9 years.

Ordinary resolutions will be proposed at the AGM to re-elect the aforesaid Directors. Biographical details of the aforesaid Directors, which are required to be disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, are set out in Appendix II to this circular.

#### ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The notice convening the AGM is set out on pages 18 to 24 of this circular. A form of proxy for use at the AGM is also enclosed with this circular and published on the website of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited (www.hkexnews.hk) and the website of the Company (www.geminiinvestments.com.hk).

As set out in the section headed "Special Arrangements for the Annual General Meeting" of this circular, the AGM will be a hybrid meeting. The Company strongly encourages Shareholders to exercise their rights to attend and vote online at the AGM by electronic facilities. In light of the current COVID-19 pandemic situation and the current regulatory requirements and guidelines under the laws of Hong Kong, Shareholders will unlikely be able to gain access to the physical meeting venue of the AGM. All Shareholders (other than those who are required to attend the AGM physically to form a quorate meeting) who wish to appoint a proxy to attend and vote physically at the AGM on their behalf

shall appoint the Chairman of the AGM as their proxy by completing, signing and returning the proxy form in accordance with the instructions printed thereon to the Company's share registrar, Tricor Standard Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Hong Kong or via the designated URL (https://spot-emeeting.tricor.hk/#/375) by using the username and password provided on the notification letter sent by the Company together with this circular as soon as possible and in any event not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the holding of the AGM or any adjournment thereof. Completion and return of the form of proxy will not preclude you from attending and voting online at the AGM (or any adjournment thereof) by means of electronic facilities should you so wish and, in such event, the form of proxy shall be deemed to be revoked.

#### **VOTING BY POLL**

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, any vote of Shareholders at a general meeting must be taken by poll except where the chairman, in good faith, decides to allow a resolution which relates purely to a procedural or administrative matter to be voted on by a show of hands. The chairman of the AGM will therefore demand a poll for every resolution as set out in the notice of the AGM to be put to vote at the AGM in accordance with the Articles. The poll results will be published on the website of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited (www.hkexnews.hk) and the website of the Company (www.geminiinvestments.com.hk).

#### **CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS**

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 3 May 2022 to Friday, 6 May 2022, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of Ordinary Shares will be registered. The record date will be Friday, 6 May 2022. In order to determine the identity of Shareholders who are entitled to attend and vote at the AGM, all Ordinary Share transfers accompanied by the relevant Ordinary Share certificates must be lodged with the Company's share registrar, Tricor Standard Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 29 April 2022.

#### RECOMMENDATION

The Board considers that the granting of the Issue Mandate (and the extension thereof), the Buy-back Mandate and the re-election of the retiring Directors are in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole. The Directors therefore recommend the Shareholders to vote in favour of the relevant resolutions as set out in the notice of the AGM.

> Yours faithfully, For and on behalf of the Board **Gemini Investments (Holdings) Limited** LAI Kwok Hung, Alex Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

This Appendix serves as an explanatory statement as required by the Listing Rules and also constitutes the memorandum required under section 239(2) of the Companies Ordinance to provide certain information to enable the Shareholders to make an informed decision on whether to vote for or against the resolution to be proposed at the AGM in relation to the Buy-back Mandate.

#### 1. SHARE CAPITAL

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the total number of Ordinary Shares in issue was 635,570,000.

Subject to the passing of the ordinary resolution granting the Buy-back Mandate and on the basis that no further Ordinary Shares are issued or bought back before the AGM, the Company will be allowed to buy back a maximum of 63,557,000 Ordinary Shares, being 10% of the number of issued Ordinary Shares as at the date of passing of the relevant resolution for granting the Buy-back Mandate.

The Buy-back Mandate will continue to be in force until (i) the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company; or (ii) the expiration of the period within which the next annual general meeting of the Company is required to be held by the Articles or any applicable laws of Hong Kong; or (iii) the revocation or variation of the authority given under the mandate by an ordinary resolution of Shareholders in general meeting, whichever is the earliest.

#### 2. REASONS FOR BUY-BACKS

The Directors believe that it is in the best interests of the Company and the Shareholders to seek a general authority from the Shareholders to enable the Company to buy back its Ordinary Shares on the Stock Exchange. Such buy-backs may, depending on market conditions and funding arrangements at the time, lead to an enhancement of the net asset value of the Company and/or its earnings per Ordinary Share and will only be made when the Directors believe that such buy-backs will benefit the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

#### 3. FUNDING OF BUY-BACKS

Buy-backs made pursuant to the Buy-back Mandate would be funded entirely from the Company's available cash flow or working capital facilities derived from distributable profits of the Company which would otherwise be available for dividend or other distributions which will be funds legally available for the purpose in accordance with the Articles and the Companies Ordinance.

#### 4. IMPACT OF BUY-BACKS

There might be material adverse impact on the working capital or gearing position of the Company (as compared with the position disclosed in the audited accounts contained in the published consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021) in the event that the Buy-back Mandate were to be carried out in full at any time during the proposed buy-back period. However, the Directors do not propose to exercise the Buy-back

Mandate to such extent as would, in the circumstances, have a material adverse impact on the working capital requirements of the Company or the gearing levels which, in the opinion of the Board, are from time to time appropriate for the Company.

#### 5. SHARE PRICES

The following table shows the highest and lowest prices at which the Ordinary Shares have been traded on the Stock Exchange during each of the twelve months preceding the Latest Practicable Date:

	Share Prices Per Ordinary Share		
Month	Highest	Lowest	
	HK\$	HK\$	
2021			
March	1.19	0.96	
April	1.09	0.95	
May	1.08	0.84	
June	0.92	0.75	
July	0.85	0.71	
August	0.79	0.63	
September	0.77	0.67	
October	0.77	0.65	
November	0.72	0.65	
December	0.67	0.60	
2022			
January	0.82	0.64	
February	0.79	0.67	
March (up to the Latest Practicable Date)	0.70	0.60	

#### 6. GENERAL

None of the Directors nor, to the best of their knowledge having made all reasonable enquiries, any of their close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules), has any present intention to sell any Ordinary Shares to the Company, if the Buy-back Mandate is approved by the Shareholders.

The Directors have undertaken to the Stock Exchange that, so far as the same may be applicable, they will only exercise the Buy-back Mandate in accordance with the Listing Rules and the applicable laws of Hong Kong, and in accordance with the regulations set out in the Articles. As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Company has not been notified by any core connected person (as defined in the Listing Rules) that such a person has a present intention to sell, or has undertaken not to sell, any Ordinary Shares to the Company, if the Buy-back Mandate is approved by the Shareholders.

#### 7. TAKEOVERS CODES

Pursuant to Rule 32 of the Takeovers Codes, if as a result of buy-back(s) of Ordinary Shares by the Company, a Shareholder's proportionate interest in the voting rights of the Company increases, such increase will be treated as an acquisition of voting rights for the purposes of the Takeovers Codes. Accordingly, if a Shareholder, or a group of Shareholders acting in concert could, depending on the level of increase of the Shareholder's interest, obtain or consolidate control of the Company following such buy-back(s) made by the Company, such Shareholder or group of Shareholders would become obliged to make a mandatory offer in accordance with Rule 26 of the Takeovers Codes.

Further, under Note 6(b) to Rule 26.1 of the Takeovers Code, when a concert group holds over 50% voting rights of the Company, no obligations normally arise from acquisitions by any member of the concert group. However, subject to considerations similar to those set out in Note 6(a) to Rule 26.1, the Executive (as defined under the Takeovers Code) may regard as giving rise to an obligation to make an offer the acquisition by a single member of the concert group of voting rights sufficient to increase his holding by more than 2% in any 12 month period if he already holds between 30% and 50%.

In the event that the Directors exercise the Buy-back Mandate in full, the total number of Ordinary Shares which will be bought back pursuant to the Buy-back Mandate shall be 63,557,000 Ordinary Shares (being 10% of the number of issued Ordinary Shares as at the Latest Practicable Date). As at the Latest Practicable Date, (i) Grand Beauty Management Limited (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Sino-Ocean) ("Grand Beauty") held 157,986,500 Ordinary Shares, representing approximately 24.86% of the total number of Ordinary Shares in issue, and (ii) Estate Spring International Limited ("Estate Spring") (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Fortune Joy Ventures Limited, which is in turn indirectly owned by Sino-Ocean as to 49%) held 265,500,917 Ordinary Shares, representing approximately 41.77% of the total number of Ordinary Shares in issue. Grand Beauty and Estate Spring (together the "Concert Group") are parties presumed to be acting in concert with each other under the Takeovers Code, and collectively held an aggregate of 423,487,417 Ordinary Shares, representing approximately 66.63% of the total number of Ordinary Shares in issue.

In the event that the Directors exercise the Buy-back Mandate in full, the individual shareholding of Grand Beauty and Estate Spring would be increased to approximately 27.62% and 46.42% of the total number of Ordinary Shares in issue, whilst the shareholding of the Concert Group in total would be increased to approximately 74.04% of the total number of Ordinary Shares in issue. Whilst the Directors are not aware of any consequences which would arise for Grand Beauty under the Takeovers Codes as a result of the exercise of the Buy-back Mandate, it is possible that such an increase in the shareholding of Estate Spring may be regarded by the Executive as giving rise to an obligation to make a mandatory general offer under Rules 26 and 32 of the Takeovers Code subject to considerations similar to those set out in Note 6(a) to Rule 26.1.

Nevertheless, the Directors do not intend to exercise the Buy-back Mandate to such extent as would, in the circumstances, trigger any potential consequences under Rule 26 of the Takeovers Codes. Save as disclosed aforesaid, the Directors are not aware of any consequences which may arise under the Takeovers Code as a result of any buy-backs to be made under the Buy-back Mandate. In any event, the Buy-back Mandate will be exercised only if the number of Ordinary Shares held by the public would not fall below 25% following such exercise.

#### 8. ORDINARY SHARE BUY-BACK MADE BY THE COMPANY

The Company has not bought back any of its Ordinary Shares (whether on the Stock Exchange or otherwise) in the six months preceding the Latest Practicable Date.

### APPENDIX II

### BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS PROPOSED FOR RE-ELECTION

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the biographical details of the Directors proposed to be re-elected at the AGM are set out as follows:

#### **EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR**

Mr. SUM Pui Ying, aged 60, has been appointed as an executive Director since 9 August 2013, and appointed as the Chairman of the Board and chairman of the nomination committee of the Company since 30 July 2020. He is also the chairman of the investment committee of the Board, and a director of various subsidiaries of the Company. He has also served as the chief executive officer of the Company from 9 August 2013 until 31 December 2020. Mr. SUM joined the Group in 2011. He is currently the chief financial officer of Sino-Ocean, which is a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3377) and has interests in the shares of the Company as a substantial shareholder disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO. Mr. SUM joined Sino-Ocean Group in May 2007. Mr. SUM was an executive director of the board of directors of Sino-Ocean from December 2015 to March 2020. He has extensive experience in corporate management of listed companies, investment and financing and financial management. Mr. SUM is currently a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England & Wales. Mr. SUM obtained a Professional Diploma in Accounting from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 1988, a Master's Degree in Business Administration from the University of Wales in 1991 and a Diploma in Legal Studies from the University of Hong Kong in 1996.

The current service agreement of Mr. SUM as an executive Director has a term of 1 year commencing from 9 August 2021, subject to early termination by either party giving the other not less than 2 months' prior notice in writing. Under the above service agreement, the remuneration of Mr. SUM is HK\$180,000 per annum which was determined by the Board with reference to his past experience, qualifications, responsibilities and duties to be performed in the Company and the prevailing market condition at the time of entering the service agreement.

As at Latest Practicable Date, save as disclosed above, Mr. SUM did not have any interests in the shares and underlying shares of the equity derivatives of the Company and its associated corporation(s) within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO nor did he have any relationship with any Directors, senior management or substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. SUM has not held directorships in any other public companies the securities of which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years, or any other position with the Company and other members of the Group.

There is no other information in relation to Mr. SUM that is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51(2)(h) to (v) of the Listing Rules and there are no other matters concerning Mr. SUM that need to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders.

### **APPENDIX II**

### BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS PROPOSED FOR RE-ELECTION

#### NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. TANG Runjiang, aged 53, has been appointed as a non-executive Director since 1 March 2018. He is also a member of the audit committee and investment committee of the Board. Mr. TANG is the Chief Financial Officer of Sino-Ocean Capital Holding Limited ("Sino-Ocean Capital", being a shareholder of the Company which, through its subsidiaries, holds interests in shares of the Company as a substantial shareholder disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO) and its subsidiaries. He has extensive experience in financial management and corporate governance for listed companies in the Mainland and Hong Kong. During the period from 1991 to 2018, Mr. TANG served as the manager of the treasury department of planning and finance division (finance and capital division) and the deputy general manager of the finance and capital division (the finance division) of China Ocean Shipping (Group) Company, the deputy chief accountant and the chief accountant of COSCO Bulk Carrier Co., Ltd., the chief accountant of China COSCO Bulk Shipping (Group) Co., Ltd., the general manager of the finance division of COSCO Group and the general manager of the finance division and the chief financial officer of China COSCO Holdings Company Limited and the senior director of business development of Paul Hastings in Hong Kong. Mr. TANG obtained a Bachelor of Economics Degree (major in accounting) from Central University of Finance and Economics in 1991 and a Master's Degree in Business Administration from the China Europe International Business School in 2014.

The current service agreement of Mr. TANG as a non-executive Director has a term of 1 year commencing from 1 March 2022, subject to early termination by either party giving the other not less than 2 months' prior notice in writing. Under the above service agreement, the remuneration of Mr. TANG is HK\$180,000 per annum which was determined by the Board with reference to his past experience, qualifications, responsibilities and duties to be performed in the Company and the prevailing market condition at the time of entering the service agreement.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, save as disclosed above, Mr. TANG did not have any interests in the shares and underlying shares of the equity derivatives of the Company and its associated corporation(s) within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO nor did he have any relationship with any Directors, senior management or substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. TANG has not held directorships in any other public companies the securities of which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years, or any other position with the Company and other members of the Group.

There is no other information in relation to Mr. TANG that is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51(2)(h) to (v) of the Listing Rules and there are no other matters concerning Mr. TANG that need to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders.

### **APPENDIX II**

### BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS PROPOSED FOR RE-ELECTION

#### INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

**Mr. LO Woon Bor, Henry,** aged 58, has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director since 12 November 2010. He is also a member of the audit committee, the remuneration committee and the nomination committee of the Board. Mr. LO is a solicitor and currently a consultant solicitor of Messrs. Chan, Wong & Lam Solicitors in Hong Kong. With over 29 years of experience in civil and commercial litigation, Mr. LO has extensive experience in the practice of property law, intellectual property, civil and commercial advice and litigation. He served as an in-house counsel in a Hong Kong-listed publication conglomerate from 1998 to 1999. He regularly proffers legal advice to companies and institutions with regard to civil and commercial subjects and practice. He graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor of Arts. Mr. LO studied law and passed the Solicitors' Final Examination in the United Kingdom. He was admitted as a solicitor of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 1993 and in England and Wales in 1994. In 1997, Mr. LO obtained a Master of Laws in Chinese and Comparative Law from the City University of Hong Kong.

The current appointment letter of Mr. LO as an independent non-executive Director has a term of 1 year commencing from 2 January 2022, subject to early termination by either party giving the other not less than 1 month's prior notice in writing. Under the above appointment letter, his remuneration is HK\$180,000 per annum which was determined by the Board with reference to his past experience, qualifications, responsibilities and duties to be performed in the Company and the prevailing market condition at the time of entering the appointment letter.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, Mr. LO did not have any interests in the shares and underlying shares of the equity derivatives of the Company and its associated corporation(s) within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO nor did he have any relationship with any Directors, senior management or substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. LO has not held directorships in any other public companies the securities of which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years, or any other position with the Company and other members of the Group.

There is no other information in relation to Mr. LO that is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51(2)(h) to (v) of the Listing Rules and there are no other matters concerning Mr. LO that need to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders.



# Gemini Investments (Holdings) Limited

盛洋投資(控股)有限公司

(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability) (Stock Code: 174)

### NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

**NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN** that the annual general meeting (the "**Meeting**") of Gemini Investments (Holdings) Limited (the "**Company**") will be held at its principal place of business in Hong Kong at Room 3902, 39/F, Tower One, Lippo Centre, No.89 Queensway, Hong Kong (the "**Principal Meeting Venue**") and online through visiting the Tricor e-Meeting system https://spot-emeeting.tricor.hk/#/375 (the "**e-Meeting System**") on Friday, 6 May 2022 at 10:00 a.m. for the following purposes:

- 1. To consider and adopt the audited consolidated financial statements and the reports of the directors and of the auditors of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2021.
- 2(A). To re-elect Mr. SUM Pui Ying as an executive director of the Company and authorise the board of directors of the Company to fix his remuneration.
- 2(B). To re-elect Mr. TANG Runjiang as a non-executive director of the Company and authorise the board of directors of the Company to fix his remuneration.
- 2(C). To re-elect Mr. LO Woon Bor, Henry as an independent non-executive director of the Company and authorise the board of directors of the Company to fix his remuneration.
- 3. To re-appoint BDO Limited as the auditor of the Company for the ensuing year and to authorise the board of directors of the Company to fix their remuneration.
- 4. To consider and, if thought fit, pass, with or without amendments, the following resolution as an ordinary resolution:

#### **"THAT**

- (a) subject to paragraph (c) of this resolution, the exercise by the directors of the Company (the "Directors") during the Relevant Period (as hereinafter defined) of all the powers of the Company to allot, issue and otherwise deal with additional ordinary shares in the capital of the Company or securities convertible into ordinary shares of the Company, or options, warrants or similar rights to subscribe for any ordinary shares of the Company, and to make or grant offers, agreements and options which would or might require the exercise of such powers be and is hereby generally and unconditionally approved;
- (b) the approval in paragraph (a) of this resolution shall be in addition to any other authorisations given to the Directors and shall authorise the Directors during the Relevant Period to make or grant offers, agreements and options which would or might require the exercise of such powers at any time during or after the end of the Relevant Period;
- (c) the aggregate number of ordinary shares in the capital of the Company allotted or agreed conditionally or unconditionally to be allotted (whether pursuant to an option or otherwise) by the Directors pursuant to the approval in paragraph
  (a) of this resolution, otherwise than pursuant to:
  - (i) a Rights Issue (as defined in paragraph (e) of this resolution);
  - (ii) an exercise of rights of subscription or conversion under terms of any warrants issued by the Company or any securities which are convertible into ordinary shares of the Company;
  - (iii) an exercise of the subscription rights under any option scheme or similar arrangement for the time being adopted for the grant or issue to officers and/or employees of the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries or such other persons eligible to participate in any such scheme(s) or arrangement of ordinary shares or rights to acquire ordinary shares of the Company;
  - (iv) any scrip dividend or similar arrangement providing for the allotment of ordinary shares of the Company in lieu of the whole or part of a dividend on ordinary shares of the Company in accordance with the articles of association of the Company (the "Articles");
  - (v) an exercise of conversion rights under the terms of the non-voting convertible preference shares issued by the Company on 23 December 2014 (as amended by the second supplemental deed dated 26 January 2018 entered into between the Company and Grand Beauty Management Limited in respect of the terms of such non-voting convertible preference shares);

(vi) a specific authority granted by the shareholders of the Company in general meeting,

shall not exceed (i) 20 per cent. of the aggregate number of ordinary shares in the capital of the Company in issue as at the date of passing of this resolution or (ii) where there occurs any share sub-division or consolidation of the issued ordinary shares of the Company during the Relevant Period, 20 per cent. of the adjusted number of total issued ordinary shares of the Company referred to in (i) above resulting from any such share subdivision or consolidation effected from time to time during the Relevant Period and the said approval shall be limited accordingly.

- (d) subject to the passing of this resolution, any prior approvals of the kind referred to in paragraphs (a), (b) and (c) of this resolution which had been granted to the Directors and which are still in effect be and are hereby revoked; and
- (e) for the purpose of this resolution:
  - (i) **"Relevant Period**" means the period from the passing of this resolution until whichever is the earliest of:
    - (aa) the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company;
    - (bb) the expiration of the period within which the next annual general meeting of the Company is required by the Articles or any applicable laws of Hong Kong to be held; and
    - (cc) the revocation or variation of the authority given under this resolution by an ordinary resolution of the shareholders of the Company in general meeting.
  - (ii) "Rights Issue" means an offer of ordinary shares or other equity securities of the Company open for a period fixed by the Directors to the holders of ordinary shares on the register of members of the Company on a fixed record date in proportion to their then holdings of such ordinary shares (subject to such exclusions or other arrangements as the Directors may deem necessary or expedient in relation to fractional entitlements or having regard to any restrictions or obligations under the laws of any relevant jurisdiction, or the requirements of any recognised regulatory body or any stock exchange in any territory outside the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People's Republic of China applicable to the Company)."

5. To consider and, if thought fit, pass, with or without amendments, the following resolution as an ordinary resolution:

#### **"THAT**

- (a) subject to paragraph (b) of this resolution, the exercise by the Directors during the Relevant Period (as hereinafter defined) of all the powers of the Company to buy back its own ordinary shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange") or on any other stock exchange on which the securities of the Company may be listed and which is recognised by the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong and the Stock Exchange for this purpose, subject to and in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations and the requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange as amended from time to time, be and is hereby generally and unconditionally approved;
- (b) the aggregate number of ordinary shares in the capital of the Company to be bought back or agreed conditionally or unconditionally to be bought back by the Company pursuant to the approval in paragraph (a) of this resolution during the Relevant Period shall not exceed (i) 10 per cent. of the aggregate number of issued ordinary shares in the capital of the Company as at the date of passing of this resolution or (ii) where there occurs any share sub-division or consolidation of the issued ordinary shares of the Company during the Relevant Period, 10 per cent. of the adjusted number of total issued ordinary shares of the Company referred to in (i) above resulting from any such share subdivision or consolidation effected from time to time during the Relevant Period and the said approval shall be limited accordingly;
- (c) subject to the passing of this resolution, any prior approvals of the kind referred to in paragraphs (a) and (b) of this resolution which had been granted to the Directors and which are still in effect be and hereby revoked; and
- (d) for the purpose of this resolution, "**Relevant Period**" means the period from the passing of this resolution until whichever is the earliest of:
  - (i) the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company;
  - (ii) the expiration of the period within which the next annual general meeting of the Company is required by the Articles or any applicable laws of Hong Kong to be held; and
  - (iii) the revocation or variation of the authority given under this resolution by an ordinary resolution of the shareholders of the Company in general meeting."

6. To consider and, if thought fit, pass, with or without amendments, the following resolution as an ordinary resolution:

#### **"THAT**

- conditional upon the passing of ordinary resolutions no. 4 and 5 as set out in (a) the notice convening this meeting, the general mandate granted to the Directors to allot, issue and deal with additional ordinary shares in the capital of the Company pursuant to ordinary resolution no. 4 set out in the notice convening this meeting be and is hereby extended by the addition thereto of the aggregate number of ordinary shares in the capital of the Company which may be bought back by the Company under the authority granted pursuant to ordinary resolution no. 5 set out in the notice convening this meeting, provided that such number shall not exceed (i) 10 per cent. of the aggregate number of issued ordinary shares in the capital of the Company as at the date of passing of this resolution or (ii) where there occurs any share sub-division or consolidation of the issued ordinary shares of the Company during the Relevant Period (as hereinafter defined). 10 per cent. of the adjusted number of total issued ordinary shares of the Company referred to in (i) above resulting from any such share subdivision or consolidation effected from time to time during the Relevant Period: and
- (b) for the purpose of this resolution, "**Relevant Period**" means the period from the passing of this resolution until whichever is the earliest of:
  - (i) the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company;
  - (ii) the expiration of the period within which the next annual general meeting of the Company is required by the Articles or any applicable laws of Hong Kong to be held; and
  - (iii) the revocation or variation of the authority given under this resolution by an ordinary resolution of the shareholders of the Company in general meeting."

By order of the Board Gemini Investments (Holdings) Limited LAI Kwok Hung, Alex Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 1 April 2022

Notes:

(a) As set out in the section headed "Special Arrangements for the Annual General Meeting" of this circular (of which this notice forms part), the Meeting will be a hybrid meeting. The Company strongly encourages members to exercise their rights to attend and vote at the Meeting through the e-Meeting System. In light of the current COVID-19 pandemic situation and the current regulatory requirements and guidelines under the laws of Hong Kong, members will unlikely be able to gain access to the Principal Meeting Venue of the Meeting in person.

Via the e-Meeting System, registered members will be able to attend the Meeting, vote and submit questions online. Non-registered members whose shares are held in the Central Clearing and Settlement System through banks, brokers, custodians or Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited may also be able to attend the Meeting, vote and submit questions online through the e-Meeting System. In this regard, they should consult directly with their banks, brokers or custodians (as the case may be) for the necessary arrangements.

- (b) A member entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting may appoint a proxy or, if holding two or more ordinary shares, more than one proxy to attend, and speak and vote at, the Meeting or any adjournment thereof on his behalf. If a member appoints more than one proxy, he must specify the number of ordinary shares each proxy is appointed to represent. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. However, given the special arrangements adopted by the Company as set out in the section headed "Special Arrangements for the Annual General Meeting" of this circular (of which this notice forms part), if a member (other than those who are required to attend the Meeting physically to form a quorate meeting) wishes to vote on any resolution at the Principal Meeting Venue of the Meeting, he/she/it must complete the proxy form and appoint the Chairman of the Meeting as his/her/its proxy to exercise his/her/its right to vote at the Principal Meeting Venue of the Meeting in accordance with his/her/its instructions.
- (c) To be valid, the form of proxy together with the power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is signed, or a notarially certified copy thereof must be deposited at the Company's share registrar, Tricor Standard Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Hong Kong or via the designated URL (https://spot-emeeting.tricor.hk/#/375) by using the username and password provided on the notification letter sent by the Company on 1 April 2022 not less than 48 hours before the time fixed for holding the Meeting or adjournment thereof. Completion and return of any instrument appointing a proxy shall not preclude a member from attending and voting online at the Meeting or any adjournment thereof by means of the e-Meeting System and, in such event, the instrument appointing a proxy shall be deemed to be revoked. The proxy form must be signed by the appointor or his attorney authorised in writing or, if the appointor is a corporation, either under its seal or under the hand of an officer, attorney or other person duly authorised to sign the same.
- (d) The register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 3 May 2022 to Friday, 6 May 2022, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of ordinary shares will be registered. The record date will be Friday, 6 May 2022. In order to determine the identity of ordinary shareholder(s) who is entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting, all transfers accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company's share registrar, Tricor Standard Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 29 April 2022.
- (e) Where there are joint registered holders of any ordinary share, any one of such persons may vote at any meeting, either personally or by proxy, in respect of such ordinary share as if he were solely entitled thereto; but if more than one of such joint holders be present at any meeting personally or by proxy, that one of the said persons so present whose name stands first on the register of members of the Company in respect of such ordinary share(s) shall alone be entitled to vote in respect thereof.
- (f) Members are encouraged to submit their completed proxy forms well in advance of the Meeting. Return of a completed proxy form will not preclude members from attending and voting online by means of the e-Meeting System at the Meeting or any adjournment thereof should they subsequently so wish.
- (g) Members shall also read carefully the section headed "Special Arrangements for the Annual General Meeting" of this circular (of which this notice forms part) for the detailed arrangements relating to participation and voting at the Meeting online.

Subject to the continuing development of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company may be required to adopt further changes to the Meeting arrangements at short notice. Shareholders are advised to check the websites of the Company (www.geminiinvestments.com.hk) and the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) for any further announcement(s) and information relating to the Meeting.

As at the date of this notice, the Directors are as follows:

Executive Directors:Non-Executive Directors:Independent Non-Executive Directors:Mr. SUM Pui YingMr. TANG RunjiangMr. LO Woon Bor, HenryMr. LAI Kwok Hung, AlexMr. ZHOU YueMs. CHEN YingshunMs. LAM Yee LanMr. LEE Sai Kai, David